
Date Published:3 November 2022     

Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee

Friday 11 November 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 22)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2022. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests from members. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

4  ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

To elect a Vice-Chair. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

DISCUSSION ITEMS

5  UPDATE ON PROGRESS WITH GFRS AND CONSTABULARY/PCC 
COLLABORATION 

To receive a verbal update on progress with GFRS and Constabulary/ 
PCC collaboration, focusing on the Shared Estate, Road Safety, and 
Community Safety. 

Nick Evans

6  MOTION 901 - ROAD SAFETY IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

REPORT TO FOLLOW

At the Council meeting on 18 May 2022, the following motion was agreed:

This Council notes:

Gavin Roberts, 
Philip Williams



    

 That 2022 has seen a significant number of incidents with 
motor vehicles in Gloucestershire, resulting in 96 serious 
injuries and 14 deaths in just the first four months.

 That Gloucestershire’s road safety record has actually 
worsened over the last decade, with our county in the bottom 
5 per cent of local authorities in Britain for reducing the 
number of people killed or seriously injured between 2011 
and 2019.

This Council believes that road safety needs to be proactively managed, 
with the emphasis on preventing deaths and serious injuries, and should 
not wait until tragedy strikes for changes to be made.

This Council welcomes the road safety policy review being undertaken, 
which will involve county wide consultation, seeking responses from 
District, Town and Parish Councils. Interested road safety groups and 
residents will be encouraged to respond. Safer Gloucestershire will 
receive regular input from the Road Safety Forum, provided by officers 
who have a statutory responsibility for road safety. This dialogue will be 
open and transparent. County Councillors will be encouraged to work with 
their Parish, Town and District colleagues, ensuring that local voices are 
heard regarding county road safety.

This Council resolves to:

 Ask officers to provide Environment Scrutiny and Fire and 
rescue Scrutiny with a thorough briefing on recent accidents 
and their causations.

 Call on Cabinet to ensure that communities and all levels of 
governance in Gloucestershire are thoroughly consulted on 
the refreshed Road Safety Policy.

 Call on Cabinet to work with Environment Scrutiny and Fire 
and rescue Scrutiny to develop a policy of ongoing dialogue 
with our residents to see road safety measures proactively 
installed in our communities.

Members to receive a briefing on recent accidents and their causations 
and to consider how to work with Cabinet to develop a policy of ongoing 
dialogue with Gloucestershire residents on road safety measures in the 
community. 

INFORMATION ITEMS

7  IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE (Pages 23 - 24)

To consider the update on progress against the Improvement Plan. 

Mark Preece

8  EMERGENCY SERVICES NETWORK PROGRAMME (Pages 25 - 26)

To receive a briefing note on the Emergency Services Network 

Mark Preece



    

Programme. 

This report is to be taken as read. 

9  GFRS PERFORMANCE DATA AND UPDATES (Pages 27 - 38)

To consider the latest GFRS performance data and any updates. This 
includes feedback on the success/ value of the Young Person Support 
Officer role after 6 months in post.

This report is to be taken as read. 

Gavin Roberts

WORK PLANNING

10  WORK PLAN 2023 (Pages 39 - 40)

To consider the Committee work plan, and to suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

11  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the dates of meetings for 2023 (all meetings to start at 10am):

13 January 2023
10 March 2023
26 May 2023
14 July 2023
15 September 2023
10 November 2023.

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

Membership –  Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Jeremy Hilton (Chair), Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, 
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Wendy Thomas, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Pam Tracey MBE 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance, Rob Ayliffe 01452 328198 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



- 1 -

FIRE AND RESCUE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee held on Friday 
2 September 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester.

PRESENT

Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Jeremy Hilton (Chair)
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington
Cllr Vernon Smith

Cllr Wendy Thomas
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Substitutes:

Apologies:

In Attendance: Mark Preece, Chief Fire Officer (GFRS)
Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and 
Libraries (GCC)
Clive Webber, Head of Business Planning and Performance 
(GFRS)
Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser (GCC)

55. APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies. 

56. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meetings held on 27 May and 21 June 2022 were approved.

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

58. HMICFRS INSPECTION FEEDBACK 

Mark Preece, Chief Fire Officer (CFO), presented the report on feedback from the 
HMICFRS inspection, which took place in September and October 2021. 

Members understood that the inspection was focused on three questions: how 
effective was the fire and rescue service at keeping people safe and secure from 
the risk of fire and other risks; how efficient was the fire and rescue service at 
keeping people safe and secure from the risk of fire and other risks; and how well 
did the fire and rescue service look after its people? 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were reminded that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) 
had been notified in January 2022 of two Causes of Concern identified during the 
inspection. These related to GFRS having not done enough since the last 
inspection to embed its values and associated behaviours, and promote a positive 
workplace culture; and GFRS having not done enough since the last inspection to 
improve understanding of the importance of equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) 
and to remove barriers to establishing EDI in the service. 

Members were informed that since receiving the notification, GFRS had worked 
collaboratively with Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) to develop an 
Improvement Plan, which was signed off by HMICFRS on 11 March 2022. 

Members noted that GCC had committed a further £2million of funding to GFRS, 
which would be used to increase capacity by funding 28 new permanent posts.

Mark Preece informed the Committee that GFRS had been placed into an 
enhanced monitoring process in May 2022, which would provide additional scrutiny 
and support, and that on 27 July 2022, HMICFRS published its final report on 
GFRS.

Members understood that in terms of effectiveness, GFRS had been graded 
requires improvement. In terms of efficiency, GFRS had been graded requires 
improvement. In terms of people, GFRS had been graded inadequate.

The CFO expressed disappointment that the grading for GFRS had deteriorated 
since the last inspection. He explained that in response to the feedback from 
HMICFRS, GFRS had worked collaboratively to produce a detailed improvement 
plan to address the issues which had been raised, and which would be presented 
to Cabinet at its meeting on 21 September 2022 for approval. 

Members were also informed that the Community Safety Improvement Board had 
been re-established, which would be chaired by the GCC Deputy Chief Executive, 
to monitor progress against the Improvement Plan. Additionally, GFRS had 
engaged with an external provider which specialised in public sector cultural 
intelligence and change, as well as with the Principal Officer Team at West Sussex 
Fire and Rescue Service, which had been through a similar improvement journey. 

Members noted that HMICFRS would be revisiting GFRS in autumn 2022 to review 
progress against the Improvement Plan for the two Causes of Concern. 

The Committee discussed the feedback on the HMICFRS inspection and asked 
questions of the CFO for clarification, considering each of the three areas of 
effectiveness, efficiency and people in turn.  

Focusing initially on effectiveness, one member sought clarification on what was 
meant by the enhanced monitoring process. They also asked the Cabinet Member 
for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries for their thoughts as to whether the 
HMICFRS report fairly reflected the inspection.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

In response, the Cabinet Member explained that it was difficult to challenge 
HMICFRS and therefore they had to accept what had been written and move 
forward with it. He added that should GFRS receive an inspection report going 
forward that he and the CFO felt was not balanced, he would have to consider 
challenging HMICFRS. However, currently, GFRS needed to accept the inspection 
result and make positive steps to address the issues raised so that when the 
Service was re-inspected in 2023, progress could be clearly identified. 

The CFO explained for context that since the inspection in 2019, GFRS has been 
dealing with 120 audit recommendations which had affected the capacity of officers. 
The Service had also had to work through a challenging pandemic, which had 
resulted in the Service being unable to address some of the previous 
recommendations from HMICFRS. 

In response to a query, it was understood that the Improvement Board would take 
place every 6 weeks and the meetings would be hybrid. 

One member expressed the view that the service provided to local communities by 
GFRS, in the practical sense, was exemplary. They queried whether the criticism by 
HMICFRS was of the management of GFRS rather than of the service provided. 

In response, the CFO explained that broadly the issues lay with implementing 
systems and processes, and with the culture and behaviour of individuals within the 
Service. 

One member expressed the view that GFRS had not responded quickly and 
effectively enough to the previous inspection report. They added that the feedback 
relating to the culture of the Service was worrying, and queried the timescale for 
addressing the issues.

The CFO agreed that having the right culture within the Service was paramount. He 
also recognised the importance of monitoring progress against the Improvement 
Plan.  

One member asked about staff recruitment to address the issues. In response, the 
CFO explained that all areas of GFRS business would be increasing in capacity 
and that back office functions would be strengthened. Additionally, an EDI Manager 
post had been established to provide challenge and perspective. 

Several members commented that the Committee should have received official 
notification that the inspection report had been published. 

One member asked about the concern raised in the report about home safety 
checks. The CFO responded that he felt the report was conflicted in terms of the 
performance relating to home safety visits, as the report recognised that GFRS was 
identifying the most vulnerable when carrying out their safe and well checks.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

One member asked whether the Service had engaged with staff on culture. It was 
explained, in response, that GFRS had engaged with focus groups and 
representative bodies on the issue. 

The CFO, following a question about implementing the recommendations from the 
Grenfell inquiry, explained that GFRS has completed the required actions, including 
inspecting buildings and providing training to staff. 

The Committee turned its focus to discuss the HMICFRS feedback relating to 
efficiency. 

In response to a query, it was understood that the Improvement Plan encompassed 
actions to address feedback from both the 2019 and 2021 inspections. 

One member queried why this scrutiny committee was not consulted with during the 
inspection, and whether HMICFRS would engage with members during their re-
visit. 

Clarification was sought regarding the comment in the report that GFRS’s service 
budget and staffing plans were not clearly aligned to its policies and priorities. 

The CFO explained that the fire cover review would enable the Service to develop 
its strategies and to ensure it was providing the right resources in the right places.

In response to a query relating to GFRS’s ICT plan, the CFO explained that whilst 
the strategy was not up to date, they had robust procedures to provide cyber 
security.

One member commented that consideration needed to be given to ensure that next 
year’s GFRS budget was sufficient to address its priorities.  

Another member queried whether GFRS had the capacity to cover new housing 
developments within the County. 

The CFO informed the Committee that an external company was being 
commissioned to carry out the fire cover review, which would look at the current risk 
and projections. 

Finally, the Committee considered the HMICFRS feedback relating to people. 

One member asked for clarification regarding the comment in the report about a 
lack of senior leader visibility.

The Lead Cabinet Member explained that he had visited every fire station since 
becoming cabinet member in 2018, and that he was currently a third of the way 
through another full round of visits, during which he had the opportunity to speak to 
staff about the issues they were facing. 

One member queried whether staff would be willing to open up to a politician. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In response, the Cabinet Member countered that staff recognised his past 
experience working within the Service, and that therefore they were open with him. 
Staff were also aware that he would pass on any concerns where appropriate to the 
CFO and senior leadership team. 

The CFO added that a focus group had been established for staff to provide honest 
feedback, and that senior leaders tried to appear approachable. However, it would 
take time to build that level of trust with staff. 

Clarification was sought regarding the criticism on diversity within the inspection 
report, given that GFRS had recruited female firefighters above the average 
proportion for England.

The CFO recognised the progress made by GFRS to recruit female firefighters, 
adding that he felt the report had not given enough recognition to the attempts to 
recruit from ethnic minority backgrounds. However, he also acknowledged that 
more needed to be done to recruit and develop staff within this area.

The Committee requested to receive a briefing note or a copy of the minutes 
(whichever was the most appropriate) for every two meetings of the Improvement 
Board.

The Committee also requested to invite the Chair of the Improvement Board to 
attend a meeting of the Committee to present on progress against the Improvement 
Plan. 

It was suggested that an item be included in the Committee work plan for members 
to receive feedback on the HMICFRS re-visit which would be taking place in 
autumn 2022. The Chair of the Committee also queried whether they could be 
included as part of the informal feedback session on the HMICFRS re-visit. 

A copy of the Improvement Plan would be circulated with the Committee following 
its approval by Cabinet. 

59. RESILIENCE TO WILDFIRES IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Mark Preece presented the report which detailed GFRS preparations to deal with 
the potential increase in heatwaves and wildfires in Gloucestershire in the future.

Members noted the definition of a wildfire, and that wildfires tended to coincide with 
extended periods of dry, warm weather. The risk could be exacerbated by rainfall 
ahead of a dry period which increased vegetation growth and therefore fire spread.  

It was understood that within Gloucestershire, the most significant area at risk of 
wildfire was the Forest of Dean, which contained one of the few surviving ancient 
woodlands in England. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Members were informed that a comprehensive tactical plan had been developed to 
respond to wildfires in this area, with resources including four fire stations, a 
number of appliances and 4x4s. Additionally, high volume pumping equipment 
could be mobilised from across the service; GFRS could access Gloucestershire 
Constabulary’s drone; and a number of officers had attended a wildfire awareness 
course in November 2021. 

Members noted that prevention activity included promoting messages about the 
risks of wildfires amongst local communities. 

One member queried whether aircraft could be mobilised to help tackle a wildfire if 
required. In response, the CFO explained that GFRS was part of national 
assistance arrangements with its neighbours to provide support in the case of an 
incident, however he was unaware of an incident on the UK mainland having ever 
required the use of an aircraft. He explained that high volume pumping was 
effective over several miles and allowed for water to be continually pumped, unlike 
aircraft which would need to refuel and reload. 

One member queried where the water to put wildfires out came from and about 
resources where ponds had dried up. The CFO responded that water could be 
taken from fire hydrants connected to the mains water supply. With regards to 
ponds, where asked, the Service had in the past used jets to oxygenate ponds. 

One member asked whether temporary trenches could be dug around the forest. In 
response it was explained that agencies, such as the Forestry Commission, were 
responsible for managing these areas and would take measures to prevent 
wildfires. 

Another member asked for clarification on the penalties for those deliberately or 
accidently starting wildfires. It was suggested, in response, that a briefing note be 
provided by the legal team on legislation relating to sanctions for causing wildfires. 

60. GFRS PERFORMANCE DATA AND UPDATES 

Members were presented with the Quarter 1 2022/23 performance data.

One member observed that 65% of targets were worse than target and hoped that 
the data would improve for the next Quarter.

In response, the CFO advised that the targets they had been set were incredibly 
ambitious and that the Service, when compared nationally, was already performing 
better than average. He suggested that the Head of Prevention be asked to attend 
a future meeting of the Committee to talk about safe and well visits and provide 
assurance.

61. WORK PLAN 2022/23 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Members were reminded to attend the Fire Scrutiny Training Session on 5 October 
2022. Members were also invited to speak to the LGA as part of its peer review of 
fire communications on 26 September. 

The Committee noted that the Chair of the Improvement Board would be asked to 
attend a future meeting of the Committee, as would the Head of Prevention. 

62. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The dates of future meetings were noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.00 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee actions – 2 September 2022

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

149. HMICFRS Inspection 
Feedback

To invite the Chair of the Improvement Board to 
attend a meeting of the FRSC to present on 
progress to date. 

Laura Powick Steve Mawson has been 
invited to attend the meeting 
on 13 January 2023. 

263. HMICFRS Inspection 
Feedback 

The Committee to receive a briefing note or a 
copy of the minutes (whichever is most 
appropriate) for every two meetings of the 
Improvement Board. 

Mark Preece The Improvement Board which 
tracks the Service’s progress 
against its two Causes for 
Concern (CoC) is chaired by 
Steve Mawson and is now 
scheduled to happen every six 
weeks until the Spring of 2023. 
Updates will be fed into the 
Scrutiny Committee regularly to 
ensure the councillors are 
briefed on the work to date.

3 HMICFRS Inspection 
Feedback

To include an item to receive feedback on the 
HMICFRS Inspection re-visit, which is taking 
place in Autumn 2022, in the work plan. 

Laura Powick The item has been 
provisionally scheduled for 
the meeting on 10 March 
2023. 

4 HMICFRS Inspection 
Feedback 

To circulate the Improvement Plan with the 
Committee once it has been signed off by Cabinet 
at its meeting on 21 September. 

Mark Preece
Laura Powick

The Improvement Plan was 
circulated by email on 22 
September, following 
approval by Cabinet. 

565. HMICFRS Inspection 
Feedback 

To confirm whether it would be appropriate to 
invite the Chair of the FRSC to attend the informal 
feedback on the HMICFRS inspection re-visit in 
Autumn 2022. 

Mark Preece The HMICFRS Team are 
coming back into GFRS the 
week commencing the 11 

November for 4 days to review 
our progress against the CoC. 
At the moment no date has 
been identified for when this 

P
age 9



feedback will be given to the 
Service and under normal 
circumstances this feedback is 
provided to the CFO and Fire 
Authority Chair (in 
Gloucestershire this will be our 
Lead Cabinet Member). Whilst it 
may not be possible to invite Cllr 
Hilton into this feedback session 
we could make sure that as 
soon as feedback is received 
the CFO briefs the Chair of Fire 
Scrutiny for his awareness.

6 66. Resilience to Wildfires 
in Gloucestershire 

To ask the legal team to prepare a briefing note 
on legislation relating to sanctions for causing 
wildfires. 

Mark Preece Briefing note is attached to 
the minutes item for the 11 
November 2022 agenda. 

767. GFRS Performance 
Data and Updates 

To invite the Head of Prevention to a future 
meeting to provide an update on progress with 
safe and well visits. 

Laura Powick This item has been 
provisionally scheduled for 
the meeting on 10 March 
2023. 

P
age 10



LRB 13/10/22 

Wildfires and Enforcement 

A wildfire has the potential to be classed as arson under the Criminal Damage Act 
1971.  It is an offence that can only be prosecuted by the Crown Prosecution 
Service.   

Arson is essentially criminal damage caused by fire. There are two levels of offence. 

Basic arson 

A person is guilty of arson if: 

• Without lawful excuse they destroy or damage
• Property belonging to another
• Intending to destroy or damage the property or
• Being reckless as to whether the property would be destroyed or damaged.

Arson with intent to endanger life 

A person is guilty of an offence if they: 

• Without lawful excuse destroys or damages
• Property belonging to themselves or another
• Intending to destroy or damage any property or being reckless as to whether

any property would be damaged or destroyed and
• Intending by the destruction or damage to endanger the life of another or

being reckless as to whether the life of another would be endangered.

The Police would investigate and the CPS would need evidence to prove beyond 
reasonable doubt that the offender damaged or destroyed property belonging to 
another either intentionally or recklessly. 

Recklessness is subjective and defined in the case of R v G1. A person acts 
recklessly within the meaning of section 1 of the Criminal Damage Act 1971 with 
respect to: 

• A circumstance when they are aware of a risk that it exists or will exist
• A result when they are aware of a risk that it will occur and
• It is, in the circumstances known to them, unreasonable to take the risk.

If someone does not intend to cause damage and they are not reckless, then they 
can not be convicted of arson. There may be circumstances where a fire has been 
started by accident. If that is the case, then it is unlikely that a prosecution for arson 
would succeed.  

The maximum sentence for both offences is life imprisonment however, such a 
sentence would be reserved for the most serious cases. There are sentencing 

1 R v G [2004] 1 A.C. 1034 

1

Page 11



guidelines for each offence, attached for reference, which would be used by the 
court.  The level of sentence will depend on factors such as intentional/reckless, 
value of damage caused, level of risk to others, level of planning, use of accelerant 
and will vary depending on the circumstances of each case.  

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service do not have any powers to instigate 
proceedings for an offence of arson but officers may be asked to provide witness 
statements to support a Police investigation.    

2

Page 12



�

3

Page 13



4

Page 14



��

5

Page 15



6

Page 16



����������	
��������� �������������
�

7

Page 17



�

8

Page 18



��
9

Page 19



10

Page 20



����������	
��������� �������������
�

11

Page 21



12

Page 22



Overview October 2022 

 

Having revisited the Causes of Concern and challenged the timelines originally allocated to each task, 
we have made some alterations and are now in a much more realistic place to move forward and 
progress our plan. 

There are 105 action points as a result of the Causes of Concern which still cover a four year period 
ending 2025. This has not altered – only the dates within that period have been realigned.  

Many of the actions are scheduled to start in the future and are dependent upon current actions 
being completed. For clarity, the pie chart above shows the current position of all actions which have 
passed their start date and are therefore being worked on (54). There are additional actions (51) 
which have not yet reached their start date. 

There are 2 actions which are considered to be behind schedule. Details of these (Recommendations 
1.1 and 2.2) are shown in the Highlight report with remedial actions for the next period. 

Key 
Complete Task completed 
On Track Actual progress is up to 25% behind the projected progress 

Behind Schedule Actual progress is 25% or more behind the projected progress 
Overdue Deadline has been passed 

Scheduled Start date has not yet been reached 
 

29.63%

66.67%

3.70%

0.00%

Cause of Concern Progress

Complete On Track Behind Schedule Overdue

 

Status Number % 
Complete 16 29.63% 
On Track 36 66.67% 
Behind Schedule 2 3.70% 
Overdue 0 0.00% 
Total In Progress 54   
      
Scheduled 51   
Grand Total 105   

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Emergency Service Mobile Communication Programme (ESMCP)

Currently all of Great Britain’s emergency service and up to 300 public safety organisations 
communicate using the Airwave network. The Airwave network forms part of the nation’s 
critical national infrastructure and is designed to withstand major incidents whilst providing 
secure and speedy communications. The network is relied upon during routine operations as 
well as during the toughest situations our country’s emergency responders face. 

In 2014 the government launched the Emergency Services Mobile Communication 
Programme (ESMCP) which is a Home Office led, cross-government programme delivering a 
new critical communication system for Great Britain’s emergency responders; the Emergency 
Services Network (ESN). This will replace the current Airwave service used by the emergency 
services in Great Britain. 

ESN will transmit fast, safe and secure voice, video and data across the 4G EE network and 
give first responders immediate access to life-saving data, images and information in live 
situations and emergencies. Customers for the ESN include the Police, Fire and Rescue and 
Ambulance services.

The original timescales for ESN would have seen the South West region (which GFRS is a part 
of) transition away from Airwave and onto ESN in 2019. However due to the complexity of 
the programme timescales have been compromised and new challenges have arisen for the 
programme to consider. To meet these, delivery of ESN has been pushed back with a new go 
live date to be released shortly from the National programme. 

Although Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) have been engaging with the 
programme since the outset, a full time dedicated member of staff was not in place until 
November 2021. The member of staff is currently seconded into this role from the Fire control 
room, covers the role of Project Manager, Coverage Lead, and Control room lead. This role is 
part funded by the programme through a ‘Local Transition Resource grant’ from the Home 
Office with the shortfall being met by GFRS. 

An Infrastructure grant has been received to cover additional costs to ensure GFRS equipment 
is ‘ESN ready’. However, the funding has recently been affected by a new list of activities the 
Home Office programme deem to be out of scope from the ESN project.  For instance, a 
required upgrade to the Airwave network, which has been required due to the delays of ESN, 
has not been funded by the programme or government. This part of the programme is likely 
to cost in the region of £120,000 before any staffing costs, and is obligatory to ensue GFRS 
have access to the Airwave Critical Communication Network. 

Since the new member of staff has been in post a delivery plan was put into place to ensure 
GFRS were in a place to transition to the new Network. A strategic board has been created 
and meet on a 6 weekly basis, this includes a member of the National Fire Chiefs Council 
ESMCP team. A GFRS ESN delivery team which has been created and will begin to meet as the 
project moves forward and workloads increase. We are working with fleet to future proof any 
new appliances that are currently on order.  Risks are highlighted and control measures put 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



in place to manage the risk and highlighted using the GFRS Risk register, Corporate Risk 
Register, and through the programme as required. 

Although nationally the delivery plan has been affected by the programme delays and re-
procurement of one of the contracts, GFRS are continuing to work towards transition. 
Currently the work is based around coverage of the network, and surveys have now been 
carried out at all GFRS Fire Stations. We are currently working collaboratively with 
Gloucestershire police and South West Ambulance, looking at all Critical Operational 
Locations in the County and ensuring the network is available to enable to transition to ESN. 
Testing of coverage on the Road Network in the County has been taking place over the last 3 
years using devices fitted to operational vehicles. Nationally these devices have collected over 
3.5 billion pieces of data. GFRS are also working with Severn Area Rescue Association and the 
Forestry Commission to undertake testing on the River and Forestry Tracks. 

With the programme activity reduced due to the current national re-procurement taking 
place, GFRS will continue to work on the coverage the new network provides and highlight 
any ‘Areas of Concern’ to the programme. As the programme develops we feel currently GFRS 
will be in a position to ensure a successful transition to ESN in line with the National 
Programme. 

 

Page 26



Scrutiny Meeting                  

Performance Report Quarter 2 2022/23 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 9



1. One third of measures were better than or within tolerance of target in Quarter 2 (2 of 6 indicators). 
Performance against target for all measures remains the same as the previous two quarters.

2. We completed a similar rate of Safe and Well visits per 1,000 population as last quarter; 
performance remains worse than target (0.93 per 1,000 population, 597 visits, against a target of 
2.35) and the comparator group average (1.50). Crews completed around three-quarters of the Safe 
and Well visits in Quarter 2, while the Community Safety Officers completed the rest. The time and 
motion study was delayed but is now due to start in October and will run for 8 weeks This will 
provide insights into how individual whole-time crews prioritise and resource the inspections, audits 
and visits that need to be undertaken alongside their response workload. In the meantime, crews 
continue to be expected to carry out 15 Safe and Well visits per month. Based on information from 
the Time and Motion study and latest benchmarking data released during Quarter 3 the target for 
this measure will be reviewed to ensure that it is appropriate.

In Quarter 2, sickness within the Prevention Team has had an impact on performance, resulting in 
an increase in the number of Safe and Well visits waiting more than 28 days, up 19% compared with 
Quarter 1 (102 up from 86). This includes an increase in the number of visits waiting more than 3 
months (29 up from 4). 

3. The service continues its positive work to reach the most vulnerable people in our community, with 
82% of Safe and Well visits undertaken being to people in vulnerable groups. This is a small 
improvement for the third quarter, with performance levels similar to the same time last year.  
Performance remains better than target (75%) and our comparator group average (74%). 

4. Timeliness of responding to all attended accidental dwelling fires (National definition) was 9 minutes 
17 seconds for Quarter 2. This is the same as in Quarter 1 and remains within tolerance of target. 
Where it was clear during the initial emergency call that the fire related to a dwelling, the average 
response time improved to 8 minutes 50 seconds.

5. There has been an increase in accidental dwelling fires this quarter (73), up 7% from Quarter 1 (68) 
and up 16% compared with the same period last year (63). While performance is worse than target, 
it is significantly better than the comparator group, reflecting the current national picture of 
increasing numbers of dwelling fires. A review of accidental dwelling fires has identified that most 
fires occur in the kitchen due to a cooking appliance, between 4pm and 8pm with a high proportion 
started by adults over the age of 18. Although, there is no current explanation for the increase in 
dwelling fires, work is underway to assess and reduce incidents through community events and 
groups, continued media coverage and investment in more staff and tools to target the areas where 
most fires occur.

Page 28



6. Annually GFRS have a Risk Based Inspection Programme (RBIP) which incorporates the highest 
risk premises identified through their risk profile work. This measure has therefore been amended to 
reflect the RBIP. 1,452 premises require inspection during 2022/23. Current performance is worse 
than target, with 537 premises inspected so far since April 2022 (37% against a target of 50%).

7. Of the premises receiving a 7.2 d inspection in Quarter 2, 75% of inspections were reported as being 
within required frequency. However, this is due to a system issue, with some visits not reporting as 
completed on the correct date. Actual performance shows all inspections as within timescale. 
Performance has followed an improving trend for three quarters. 

8. The risk of failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively deliver their statutory services, 
resulting in community disruption and failure of corporate objectives continues to be rated as 
Moderate 12. Work continues to take place to ensure that all service areas have an up-to-date 
business continuity plan in place. In line with best practice, business impact analyses (BIAs) need to 
be conducted before business continuity plans (BCPs) are developed/updated. BIA sessions 
therefore continue to be rolled out to plan owners. While outstanding BIAs are now overdue, 
reasonable progress has been made this quarter. Just under three-quarters of BIAs and over half of 
BCPs (due December 2022) have been completed (71% and 55% up from 65% and 46% 
respectively). The corporate BCM Assurance Board continues to maintain oversight of progress. 
Work to update the Critical Incident Plan which is the final strand of planned activity, has 
commenced but will require BIAs to be materially completed.

Consideration was given to increasing the risk likelihood rating this quarter to reflect rising concerns 
around energy security and the potential for rota disconnections/electricity supply blackouts in the 
UK this winter. Consensus from a group of business continuity practitioners across the County who 
discussed this risk early in October 2022 was that, although concerns are clearly escalating in the 
media, and also from National Grid and the energy regulator Ofgem, it is still difficult to establish the 
likelihood of disruption actually occurring. We are also seeking to understand some practical 
aspects relating to the GCC estate e.g. the extent to which it is covered by back-up generators in 
order to inform an assessment of the Council's likely resilience to this issue.

9. The risk relating to insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely impacting on pace and 
sustainability of improvement and contributing to increase to firefighter safety or capability to deliver 
emergency services to the community remains rated as Moderate 12. Recruitment and selection 
processes have taken place to fill substantive posts. Grey book posts, covering operational and 
control staff of local authority fire and rescue services, have largely been filled. However, we 
continue to struggle to fill Green book posts, support services employed by local authority, with the 
skills required. Additional funding will provide the finance needed for additional resource and 
training, but capacity will only improve if we can fill posts. It is still recognised that there are ongoing 
work pressures on staff and we continue to work to improve this in order to reduce the risk of 
burnout.

10. Just over two-fifths of staff have had an up-to-date appraisal (within the last 12 months) completed 
on the GFRS personnel system at the end of Quarter 2 (43%). Performance has followed a 
declining trend over the last three quarters, from 68%. Appraisal discussion, alongside regular one-
to-one conversations between Managers and their staff are intended to support wellbeing through 
the provision of clear direction, development and reflection on achievement. 6.5% of Community 
Safety staff overall and 13.5% of Fire and Rescue Service staff have an appraisal recorded on the 
corporate personnel system which relates to the current financial year. Given the pressures on staff 
and concerns around burnout, it is important that performance in this area improves.

11. Rolling Year turnover is currently at 13.3%, a slight reduction compared with last quarter (14.1%) but 
still above the low of 9.1% in March 2021. The Operational Development Team continue to look at 
ways to improve the completion and analysis of exit interviews to identify trends. Turnover for 
Community Safety overall is also showing a decrease over the Rolling Year (12.5% down from 
13.6% last quarter).

Page 29



12. Sickness/absence levels have decreased for a second quarter for both the Fire and Rescue Service 
and Community Safety as a whole, although performance is worse than target as is long-term 
sickness. A high proportion of days lost are due to sickness caused by musculoskeletal and 
back/neck injuries. Sickness due to stress remained better than target (0.57 days per FTE against 
target of 0.77). 

Page 30



Quarter 2 2022/23

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 2 2022/23.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue 3

GFRS Scrutiny Committee

1

P
age 31



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
 Risk Value Decreasing
 No Change

Measure Symbols
 Performance Better than Target
 Performance Worse than Target
 Performance significantly worse than Target
 No information
 Missing Target
 No Value

Bigger is Better  A bigger value for this measure is good 
Smaller is Better  A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best  Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 32



Transforming Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

Response

Average Response times to dwelling fires Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 9.29 7.03 9.14 9.17 9.17 9.00 8.37

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Prevention

% of Safe and Well visits undertaken to those in high risk
groups

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 83.0% 78.4% 79.0% 80.0% 82.0% 75.0% 68.0%

Rate of Safe and Well visits undertaken per 1,000 population Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 0.83 0.89 0.89 0.94 0.93 2.35

performance continues to be significantly below target
and comparable group. 597 Safe and wells were
completed and 241 HFSC in Q2 down on Q1. There
have been a number of staff sicknesses within the
prevention team which has had a knockon effect on
performance.

1.50

Number of Accidental Dwelling Fires Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 63 74 60 68 73 57

A review of Accidental dwelling fires has identified
that most fires occur in the kitchen due to a cooking
appliance, between 4pm and 8pm with a high
proportion started by adults over the age of 18. Work
is underway to assess and reduce these numbers
through community events and groups, continued
media coverage and investment into more tools and
staff to reach and target the areas where most fires
occur.

103

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Protection

% of 7.2d premises within required frequency Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 87.5% 68.8% 88.9% 93.0% 75.0% 100.0%

Performance has dipped due to a system issue which
staff were not aware of and had meant that some
visits were not showing as complete on the actual
visit date, therefore performance should be 100%.

n/a

% of Annual Risk Based Inspection Plan Programme of work
completed within timeframes

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter ? ? ? 19.0% 37.0% 50.0%

This indicator has been amended to reflect the RBIP,
the annual inspection program of premises deemed
the highest risk. The RBIP equates to 1452
inspections to be complete in 2022/23. This will
therefore break down to 363 per quarter as a
percentage growing 25% every quarter to 100% by
Q4 end. 

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 33

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Risk 
Monitoring Report 
– Community Safety

Quarter Q2,  2022/23

Summary overview

Ref Risk Owner Strategic Risks Residual risk score Direction of travel

SR 10.4 Mark Preece Insufficient Business Continuity Management Medium 12 [

SR 10.6 Mark Preece Capacity and capability to deliver Fire Service improvement Medium 12 [

P
age 35



Consequence

1 2 3 4 5

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

5

4

3

2

1

Consequence

1 2 3 4 5

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

5

4

3

2

1

Th
is

 p
er

io
d

P
re

vi
o

u
s 

p
e

ri
o

d

SR 10.4: Insufficient Business Continuity Management

Due to insufficient business continuity management arrangements failure of 

the Council or a key partner to effectively deliver their statutory services, 

resulting in community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Current controls:
Council Business Continuity Policy and associated Role & 

Responsibilities guidance

Corporate BCM Assurance Board 

Business continuity included in Managers Governance 

Checklist (work in progress as at August 2021).

Guidance developed and published to help ensure 

awareness of business continuity in Procurement, 

including appropriate business continuity references in the 

draft Contract Procedure Rules (July 2021); guidance also 

published re. business continuity in Project Management. 

Overall, the guidance developed aims to encourage early 

consideration of BCM so as to help "design-in" business 

continuity from the start of key council change and 

procurement activities.

Business continuity programme overseen by a lead officer 

for BCM within the Civil Protection Team, Community 

Safety Directorate

Period comments:
Work continues to take place to ensure that all service areas have an up-to-date business continuity plan in place. In line with best practice, business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be conducted before business continuity 

plans (BCPs) are developed/updated. BIA sessions therefore continue to be rolled out to plan owners. While outstanding BIAs are now overdue, reasonable progress has been made this quarter. Just under three-quarters of 

BIAs and over half of BCPs (due December 2022) have been completed (71% and 55% up from 65% and 46% respectively). The corporate BCM Assurance Board continues to maintain oversight of progress. Work to update 

the Critical Incident Plan which is the final strand of planned activity, has commenced but will require BIAs to be materially completed.

Consideration was given to increasing the risk likelihood rating this quarter to reflect rising concerns around energy security and the potential for rota disconnections/electricity supply blackouts in the UK this winter. Consensus 

from a group of business continuity practitioners across the County who discussed this risk early in October 2022 was that, although concerns are clearly escalating in the media, and also from National Grid and the energy 

regulator Ofgem, it is still difficult to establish the likelihood of disruption actually occurring. We are also seeking to understand some practical aspects relating to the GCC estate e.g. the extent to which it is covered by back-up 

generators in order to inform an assessment of the Council's likely resilience to this issue.

Key:

Target 
score

Risk 
score

12 12

Risk Owner: Mark Preece, Chief Fire 

Officer

Cabinet Member: Cllr Dave Norman

P
age 36



Consequence

1 2 3 4 5

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

5

4

3

2

1

Consequence

1 2 3 4 5

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

5

4

3

2

1

Th
is

 p
er

io
d

P
re

vi
o

u
s 

p
e

ri
o

d

SR 10.6: Capacity and capability to deliver Fire Service improvement

Insufficient workforce capacity and capability adversely impacting the pace and sustainability of 

improvement that will potentially contribute to an increased risk to firefighter safety, failure to 

meet our statutory obligations and/ or capability to deliver emergency services to the community.

Risk Owner: Mark Preece, Chief Fire 

Officer

Cabinet Member: Cllr Dave Norman

Current controls:

Improvement plan

Improvement Board oversight

Additional resources for recruitment and 
retention

Period comments: 

Recruitment and selection process have happened to fill substantive posts, grey book posts have largely been filled however we 

continue to struggle to fill green book posts with the skills required. Additional funding will provide the finance needed for additional 

resource and training but only if we can fill posts. It is still recognised that there are continued work pressures on staff and we 

continue to work to improve this in order to reduce the risk of burnout.

Key:

Target 
score

Risk 
score

12 12

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2022/23

2 September 2022 11 November 2022  13 January 2023       

Discussion items 

 HMICFRS inspection feedback 
 Resilience to wildfires in Gloucestershire 

Information items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

Discussion items 

 Update on progress with GFRS and 
Constabulary/PCC collaboration (written 
report to focus on the three themes 
identified: the Shared Estate, Road 
Safety, and Community Safety).

 Motion 901- Road Safety in 
Gloucestershire – to consider the motion 
and receive a briefing on recent accidents 
and their causations. 

 Emergency Services Network Programme

Information items 

 Feedback on the success/ value of the 
Young Person Support Officer role (after 
6 months in post). 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

Discussion items 

 Update from Chair of the GFRS 
Improvement Board on progress to date 
(Steve Mawson)

 Review of Severn Park Joint Training 
Centre

 Shared use of Newent and Dursley Fire 
Stions – Progress Update *

 GFRS Net Zero Carbon Progress Update 
(to include total savings on carbon 
emissions for all vehicle types, as well as 
plans for reducing carbon foot print in 
energy use, equipment etc). *

Information items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

* Potential information items, rather than for 
discussion

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 10



10 March 2023 26 May 2023 14 July 2023

Discussion items 
 Feedback on the HMICFRS re-visit 

Autumn 2022. 
 Update on progress with Safe and Well 

Visits (Head of Prevention)

Information items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates
 Improvement Board Progress Update

Discussion items 

Information items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates
 Improvement Board Progress Update 

Discussion items 

Information items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

Future Items 

1 Fire Cover Review/ High Risk Buildings Date to be confirmed 5

2 2023/24 Fire Budget Proposals Early 2023
Workshops, visits and member development sessions

3 Update on progress against CRMP 
objectives

Early 2023 1 Visit to Severn Park Joint Training Centre To be arranged

4 The future of the Tri-Service Centre Date to be confirmed 2 Visit to the vehicle workshops at 
Waterwells

To be arranged

P
age 40


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	2 September 2022 FRSC Actions
	LRB Advice re Wildfire Enforcement October 2022
	Wildfires and enforcement October 2022
	Arson (criminal damage by fire) – Sentencing
	Arson_criminal damage with intent to en..


	7 Improvement Plan Progress Update
	8 Emergency Services Network Programme
	9 GFRS Performance Data and Updates
	GFRS Scrutiny 2223
	Strategic Risk Monitoring Report - GFRS Q2 2022-23

	10 Work Plan 2023



